






National research initiatives
Since 2002 four national research centres, initially established in the 1980s to 

address the HIV /AIDS epidemic, have expanded the scope of their work program 

to include research into hepatitis C. In line with the recommendations of the 

second Hepatitis C Strategy, the Australian Centre in HIV and Hepatitis Virology 

Research (ACH²), the National Centre in HIV Epidemiology and Clinical Research 

(NCHECR); the National Centre in HIV Social Research (NCHSR) and the Australian 

Centre in Sex, Health and Society (ARCSHS) have conducted research to establish 

a biomedical and social / behavioural evidence base to inform initiatives for the 

prevention, treatment and care of people living with hepatitis C.

While the national research centres receive core funding from the Australian 

Government, they work with an extensive range of collaborators, including state 

and territory health departments, public and private clinical units, national and 

international organisations, and the corporate sector including the 

pharmaceutical industry.

State and Territory Responses
State and territory governments and health authorities have responsibility for 

and flexibility in, program delivery. Among their particular activities are the 

following:

•	 implementing the National Hepatitis C Strategy at the jurisdictional level;

•	 establishing individual state and territory hepatitis C strategies, including 

treatment, care and support plans;

•	 establishing advisory forums with representation from all members of the 

partnership in their jurisdiction;

•	 establishing public policy and legislative frameworks consistent with the 

aims and objectives of the National Hepatitis C Strategy;
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•	 investigating, analysing and monitoring the epidemiology of hepatitis C 

within their jurisdiction;

•	 developing, funding, delivering and evaluating a range of services, such as 

public hospital services (delivered on-site or as outreach services), health 

promotion, and care and support services provided by public and community-

based organisations that reflect the prevalence and changing needs of 

people affected by hepatitis C;

•	 funding, supporting and evaluating the work of hepatitis councils and drug 

user organisations;

•	 providing workforce infrastructure and professional development and 

training for workers who deal with hepatitis C related issues;

•	 funding and evaluating Needle and Syringe Programs;

•	 ensuring effective intersectoral co-operation between state and territory and 

local government agencies;

•	 ensuring that resources are allocated in accordance with the priority areas, 

having regard to the essential components expressed in the National 

Hepatitis C Strategy; and

•	 measuring and reporting on the implementation of the National Hepatitis C 

Strategy within their jurisdiction.

In recognising the need for a well co-coordinated response to hepatitis C by 

both the Australian Government and the states and territories, the 

Intergovernmental Committee on HIV/AIDS and Related Diseases (IGCAHRD) 

was established in 1987. Following a restructuring of the AHMAC subcommittees 

in 2006, IGCAHRD was disbanded and replaced by the Blood Borne Virus and 

Sexually Transmissible Infections Subcommittee (BBVSS), as a key advisory body 

to the Australian Health Ministers’ Advisory Council through the Australian 

Population Health Development Principal Committee.
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Needle and Syringe Programs

The National Hepatitis C Strategy recognises the important contribution to 

hepatitis C prevention made by Needle and Syringe Programs, which were 

originally implemented under successive national HIV/AIDS strategies. The 2005 

Economic Evaluation of Hepatitis C in Australia (Applied Economics 2005) 

concluded that these programs, together with other hepatitis C education and 

prevention programs produced significant returns on investment in terms of 

cost-effectiveness, offering significant health gains, financial savings and other 

benefits. Support for this prevention mechanism has continued under the 

current National Hepatitis C Strategy.

Needle and Syringe Programs (NSPs) are a key public health measure established 

to reduce the transmission of blood-borne viruses, particularly HIV and hepatitis 

C, among people who inject drugs. Known by alternative titles in different parts 

of Australia (Clean Needle Programs in South Australia, and Needle and Syringe 

Programs in WA), NSPs are perhaps the most straightforward example of public 

health programs operating on the principles of harm reduction.

The National Drug Strategy 2004–2009 provides an integrated framework for 

addressing drug issues in the Australian Community. Drug-reduction strategies 

such as NSPs, which reduce the impact of drug-related harm on individuals and 

communities, are recognised as a priority area.

The NSW Health Department’s Needle and Syringe Policy and Procedures Manual, 

in describing the underlying rationale of NSPs, reflects the national position on 

hepatitis C prevention imperatives. It acknowledges that:

•	 many people will continue to inject drugs, for varying periods of time, despite 

drug education and treatment programs;

•	 all people must be provided with the knowledge and skills necessary to make 

informed decisions about high risk behaviours; and

•	 the community as a whole faces a greater threat from the social and economic 

consequences of infections such as hepatitis C and HIV than it does from the 

adverse effects of drug use itself.

The first NSP was piloted in Darlinghurst, Sydney in 1986, following concerns 

about the rising prevalence of HIV among people injecting drugs. In 1987, NSPs 
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were integrated into NSW government policy. Other states and territories soon 

established their own NSPs, and currently there are over 3,000 NSPs in Australia.

Several types of NSPs operate across Australia, with distinct differences. Broadly, 

these are classified as:

•	 Primary – fixed, stand-alone agencies that specifically provide specialist 

services to people who inject drugs, including the provision of sterile 

equipment and appropriate disposal facilities, referral and sometimes primary 

medical care.

•	 Secondary – outlets offering sterile equipment and appropriate disposal as 

one part of a range of health and community services. Examples of secondary 

outlets include those at community health centres and hospital-based 

accident and emergency departments.

NSPs operate from different service models including fixed-site outlets, and 

mobile/outreach facilities. NSPs are also provided through some community 

pharmacies.

Dispensing machines in some states dispense ‘packs’ which contain several 1ml 

syringes (for a small fee). These machines are re-stocked by NSP workers and they 

assist in broadening the reach of NSPs in ensuring 24-hour access to preventative 

equipment for blood-borne viruses. See Chapter 8: Education and Training for 

more details on training and education issues for the NSP workforce.

Local Government Responses
The provision of services at the local government level has become increasingly 

important in meeting the needs of people affected by hepatitis C. Local 

government involves a wide range of agencies and services that can contribute 

to the health and wellbeing of people. It is well-placed to respond promptly and 

effectively to particular local needs. Furthermore, it is responsible for urban 

planning and development, which affects the location and operation of health 

promotion initiatives such as Needle and Syringe Programs, local health services 

and waste collection, including needles and syringes. Local governments are in 

a good position to become key partners in promoting population health 
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initiatives, and their policies should reflect the principles and priorities of the 

current National Hepatitis C Strategy.

Community Sector Responses
Central to the partnership approach is the involvement of individuals and 

communities in program and policy development. To date, this has been 

principally through community-based organisations supported by Australian 

Government and state government funds, and includes hepatitis councils, drug 

user organisations, state and territory haemophilia groups and Needle and 

Syringe Programs.

Hepatitis Councils

The first councils were formed in the early 1990s, evolving primarily from 

hepatitis C support groups. The councils were organised in response to the 

confusion and ignorance associated with diagnosis, the absence of reliable 

information, and the misunderstanding and discrimination encountered by 

many affected people. The development of support through the provision of 

information, telephone ‘buddy’ systems, meetings and public information 

seminars stimulated local communities to form incorporated associations.

Hepatitis Australia is the lead national agency for people with hepatitis C and 

other viral hepatitis. Hepatitis Australia is a strong and effective voice for the 

people it represents.

The state-based hepatitis councils define their principal tasks as the provision of:

•	 information;

•	 referral to appropriate agencies and expertise;

•	 education, training and development services;

•	 peer-based support services to people affected by hepatitis C; and

•	 community representation at all levels of policy development and decision-

making relating to hepatitis C issues.
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All hepatitis councils have recognised the importance of partnerships and of 

establishing infrastructure to meet local needs. Good examples of such 

community involvement and empowerment are seen in management 

committees, project co-ordination and provision of services to people with 

hepatitis C. These endeavours often involve people who use drugs, health 

professionals, counsellors and researchers, government representatives and 

people with hepatitis C, who work together for the benefit of affected people.

Drug User Organisations

The illicit nature of injecting drug use has meant that traditional public health 

promotion approaches are not always appropriate or effective. Consequently, 

peer-based drug user organisations have been funded to involve affected 

people in harm reduction initiatives that include:

•	 design, delivery and development of education, support and training 

programs;

•	 information provision;

•	 participation in the development of health policy and programs; and

•	 referral to appropriate agencies.

The Australian Injecting and Illicit Drug Users League (AIVL) is the national 

peak organisation representing the state and territory drug user organisations 

and issues of national significance for people who use or have used illicit drugs. 

AIVL is a peer organisation. AIVL member organisations have had interrupted 

histories and, in some jurisdictions, operate as semi-autonomous programs 

within other organisations. These factors and local conditions have resulted in 

variations between state and territory organisations in terms of their size, the 

range of services provided, organisational style, and their capacity to participate 

in the partnership approach to prevent blood-borne virus transmission. However, 

all of these organisations are characterised by their focus on facilitating 

involvement of people who inject and use drugs to manage their own health 

and that of their peers.
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Other Organisations

The Multicultural HIV/AIDS and Hepatitis C Service undertakes and supports 

initiatives to address hepatitis C in CALD communities. It also works to build the 

capacity of agencies to address hepatitis C amongst people from CALD 

backgrounds.

National and State Haemophilia Foundations were formed to represent and 

address the needs of people with haemophilia, including complications in their 

treatment arising from blood-borne viruses. Since 1990, these groups have 

worked towards responding to the additional health needs of people with 

bleeding disorders who have hepatitis C.

The Australasian Society for HIV Medicine is a key partner in the Australian 

response to HIV, hepatitis and related diseases. The Society conducts a broad 

education program in HIV and viral hepatitis for medical practitioners, health 

care providers and allied health workers, and manages a program of continuing 

medical education in HIV and viral hepatitis.

Directions for the Future
A mid-term stock-take of the four National Strategies, including the National 

Hepatitis C Strategy 2005–2008 was held on 27 March 2007. The meeting was 

attended by approximately 80 people and included representatives from 

community based, clinical and research organisations and relevant committees.

The key priorities which were identified by participants as requiring progress in 

the hepatitis C sector in the next 18 months were:

•	 continuing to progress hepatitis C as a public health issue in the corrections 

sector;

•	 pursuing the need to extend access to clean injecting equipment, including 

access after hours;
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•	 documenting and disseminating flexible models for hepatitis C treatment; 

and

•	 creating an enabling environment for a hepatitis C education and prevention 

campaign, underpinned by relevant social research.

Whilst these are not the only actions that will need to be taken forward as a 

result of the stock-take, their identification as ‘key priorities’ signifies agreement 

amongst Forum participants that these actions should be pursued with renewed 

focus and drive during the next period.

Another key piece of work which will commence during 2008 is the evaluation 

of the National Hepatitis C Strategy 2005–2008 and the development of the next 

National Strategy. In order to appropriately reflect the partnership approach, it 

is expected that there will be extensive stakeholder consultation in developing 

the next National Strategy.
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Glossary
Acute infection

Any infection characterised by signs and symptoms that last for a short period 

of time. Acute infection with hepatitis C is often very mild, lasts less than 6 

months (often less than 12 weeks) and goes unnoticed for most people. It does 

not refer to the severity of the disease.

Alanine aminotransferase (ALT)

A protein which, when found in the blood in elevated quantities, generally 

indicates liver damage.

Antibodies

Proteins produced by the body in response to bacteria, viruses or other antigenic 

substances. In the case of hepatitis C, antibodies are produced in response to a 

virus.

Antibody test

A test to detect the presence of antibodies to the hepatitis C virus, indicating 

exposure to HCV. This test cannot tell if the individual still has an active viral 

infection, only that the individual was exposed to the virus in the past.

Antigen

An antigen is a molecule that stimulates an immune response.

Best practice

The use of the best intervention(s) based on the evidence available to produce 

improved outcomes for an identified problem.

Blood awareness

Being alert to the potential or actual presence of blood in any situation or 

environment.
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Blood-borne virus

A virus that is transmitted by blood and some body fluids. Examples include 

hepatitis B, hepatitis C and HIV.

Blood products

Component parts of blood (e.g. plasma, albumin etc.) that can be separated, 

virally inactivated and used by blood banks and hospitals for specific medical 

requirements, e.g. treatment for people with haemophilia and other bleeding 

disorders.

Buprenorphine

Pharmacotherapy used as a withdrawal or maintenance drug, particularly in 

opioid addiction and withdrawal.

Carrier

Refers to a person who has a specific ongoing infection that can be transmitted 

to others.

CD4 cells (also known as T cells or T helper cells)

CD4 cells belong to a group of white blood cells known as lymphocytes and play 

a central role in protecting the body from infection.

Chronic infection

An infection that is ongoing for more than six months. It does not refer to the 

severity of the disease.

Cirrhosis

Cirrhosis of the liver is a consequence of chronic liver disease characterised by 

replacement of liver tissue by fibrotic scar tissue, leading to progressive loss of 

liver function. Approximately 2% of people with hepatitis C develop cirrhosis.

Clinical trials

These are research procedures that test the safety and efficacy of experimental 

medicines on groups of people, in order to identify who may benefit from a 
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specific drug or treatment. Clinical trials are the application of the scientific 

method to human health.

Co-infection

In virology, coinfection describes the simultaneous infection of a single cell by 

two or more virus particles. Hepatitis C co-infection refers to infection with 

hepatitis C and another blood-borne virus such as HIV and/or hepatitis A or B.

Cohort

Any designated group of people who are followed over a period of time and 

from whom data is collected.

Combination therapy

The use of two or more types of treatment in combination, alternately or 

together, to achieve optimum results and to reduce toxicity. In hepatitis C 

treatment, this term currently refers to a combination of the drugs interferon 

and ribavirin.

Complementary therapies

Complementary therapies are therapies that are used as well as conventional 

medical treatments to improve overall feeling of well being. People living with 

hepatitis C may use complementary therapies to relieve symptoms and improve 

wellbeing. These can react with conventional medical treatment. To avoid this 

risk, people using complementary therapies should inform their medical 

practitioner.

Community development

Considered to be any activity that aims to empower the individual (within their 

own particular socio-economic context) to participate effectively, make decisions 

and take action to optimise their own health and quality of life.

Custodial settings

The various settings in which adults and juveniles are detained or imprisoned, 

including prisons, juvenile justice centres, remand and other detention facilities.
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Demand reduction – see Harm minimisation.

Disclosure (hepatitis C-related)

The act of telling other people that you have hepatitis C. Apart from informing 

the Australian Red Cross Blood Service, individuals are not legally obliged to 

disclose their hepatitis C status. Disclosure to partners, family, friends, employers, 

insurers and health workers is a personal and potentially difficult decision. 

Health workers have a professional and ethical obligation to know their hepatitis 

C status and, if infectious, must not perform procedures in which there is 

potentially a high risk of transmitting a blood-borne disease between a health 

care worker and a patient during a medical or dental procedure (ie. exposure 

prone procedures).

Discrimination (hepatitis C-related)

Any unfavourable treatment on the basis of known or implied hepatitis C status; 

any action or inaction that results in a person being denied full or partial access 

to otherwise generally available services or opportunities because of known or 

implied hepatitis C status. The definition includes discrimination on the grounds 

of known or imputed membership of particular groups that are commonly 

associated with hepatitis C.

Enhanced Primary Care (EPC)

A partnership arrangement between health care professionals, usually with 

expertise in different areas (ie multi-disciplinary), designed to optimise the care 

of people with chronic disease. When caring for people with hepatitis C, the term 

is often used to describe an arrangement made between GPs, specialists, and 

other health service providers such as dietitians and counsellors.

Epidemiology

The study of the distribution and determinants of health-related states or events 

in specified populations, such as likely routes of transmission and trends in 

epidemics, and the application of this knowledge to deal with health problems.
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Exposure-prone procedures

These are procedures in which there is potentially a high risk of transmission of 

blood borne virus/viruses between a health care worker and a patient during a 

medical or dental procedure.

Extra-hepatic

These are symptoms or manifestations of chronic infection which occur outside 

the liver.

False negative result

An incorrect result of test or procedure that indicates the absence of a condition 

or infection, when in fact the condition or infection does exist.

Fibrosis

Fibrosis is the formation or development of excess fibrous scar tissue to replace 

normal tissue lost through injury or infection.

Fit

The colloquial term for a needle and syringe.

Genotype

Genotype is the term used to describe the specific genetic structure of hepatitis 

C. There are believed to be six major hepatitis C genotypes (1–6), each of which 

can be further subdivided into subtypes (1a, 1b, 2a, etc). These genotypes are 

closely related in their genetic make-up but differ enough that scientists have 

classified them into distinct groups.

Haemolytic anaemia

A disorder characterised by chronic premature destruction of red blood cells. In 

the case of hepatitis C, haemolytic anaemia can occur in response to the use of 

anti-viral drugs, in particular ribavirin.
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Haemophilia

A hereditary blood clotting disorder in which one of the essential clotting 

factors is deficient. Haemophilia A (or Classical Haemophilia) is the most 

common form, and is due to the deficiency of factor VIII. Haemophilia B (or 

Christmas disease) is due to the deficiency of factor IX. Haemophilia almost 

exclusively affects males. Haemophilia in females is rare.

Harm minimisation

This is the primary principle underpinning the National Hepatitis C Strategy 

2005–2008 and the National Drug Strategy 2004–2009. The term refers to policies 

and programs aimed at reducing drug-related harm. The underlying principle is 

the intention to improve health, social and economic outcomes for the individual 

and for the community as a whole. Both licit and illicit drugs are the focus of 

Australia’s harm minimisation strategy. Harm minimisation includes preventing 

anticipated harm and reducing actual harm, involving a balance between 

demand reduction, supply reduction and harm reduction.

Harm reduction

Harm reduction aims to reduce the harm associated with potentially risky 

activities, rather than preventing people from performing those activities. Harm 

reduction is a pragmatic concept; it recognises the reality of drug use, and 

maintains that individuals and the community may be better served by 

diminishing the harms associated with drugs than by attempting to stop drug 

consumption.

Health maintenance

A combination of activities, interventions and lifestyle choices which support 

continued management and monitoring of a person’s health, with the intention 

of reducing the severity and side effects of hepatitis C and delaying the onset of 

advanced liver disease.

Health promotion

This process uses health information, education, communication and community 

mobilisation to influence attitudes to health and behaviours of individuals or 

communities.
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Hepatitis

A general term meaning inflammation of the liver.

Hepatitis C virus

Hepatitis C virus is a slow-acting virus transmitted through blood-to-blood 

contact. There are a number of major strains of hepatitis C virus. These strains are 

called genotypes. It is possible for a person to become infected with different 

genotypes. As yet, there is no vaccine to protect against infection with hepatitis 

C virus.

Hepatologist

A doctor who specialises in the care of the liver.

Highly Specialised Drugs Program

The Australian Government provides funding for certain specialised medications 

under the Highly Specialised Drugs Program a program under Section s100 of 

the National Health Act, 1953. Highly Specialised Drugs are medicines for the 

treatment of chronic conditions which, because of their clinical use or other 

special features, are restricted to supply through public and private hospitals 

having access to appropriate specialist facilities. To prescribe these drugs as 

pharmaceutical benefit items, medical practitioners are required to be affiliated 

with these specialist hospital units. A general practitioner or non-specialist 

hospital doctor may only prescribe Highly Specialised Drugs to provide 

maintenance therapy under the guidance of the treating specialist. Benefits are 

available for the listed clinical indications only.

Immune system

The immune system is the body’s defence that protects against infection by 

identifying and killing pathogens ranging from viruses to parasitic worms and 

distinguishes them from the body’s normal cells and tissues. It also acts to 

protect the body against the effects of drugs, toxins and cancer cells.
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Incidence

Incidence is the number of new cases of a disease in a population during a given 

time interval, usually one year. It is often expressed as X number of cases per 

given population base. 

Indeterminate

The result of antibody test that is neither positive nor negative.

Informed consent

Informed consent is when a person gives consent based upon an appreciation 

and understanding of the facts and implications of an action. Informed consent 

must be obtained without force, fraud or threat and with knowledge and 

understanding of the consequences of the matter to which consent relates. In 

this context, it is often meant as permission from a person to perform a specific 

test or procedure. In relation to hepatitis C, informed consent should be sought 

by the health care worker from the person involved before any medical 

intervention, e.g. testing, biopsy or prescribing of treatment takes place.

Interferon

A substance produced naturally by the body to help defend itself against viral 

infection. Interferon assists the immune response by inhibiting viral replication 

within cells of the body. The administration of synthetically manufactured 

interferon alpha in large doses can help to reduce the amount of hepatitis C in 

the blood and slow down or stop the disease process.

Lamivudine

A commonly used drug in the treatment of hepatitis B.

Liver biopsy

A liver biopsy involves removing a small sample of tissue from the liver so that it 

can be examined for abnormalities. It is used to determine the extent of liver 

damage caused by chronic conditions such as hepatitis.

Liver function test

A blood test used to evaluate various functions of the liver.
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Macrophage system

Large mononuclear phagocytic cells which are part of the population of white 

blood cells in the body. They remove waste products and harmful micro-

organisms from the bloodstream.

Medicare Benefits Schedule

Medicare Benefits Schedule (MBS) is a listing of the Medicare Services subsidised 

by the Australian Government. The Schedule is part of the wider Medicare 

Benefits Scheme managed by the Department of Health and Ageing and 

administered by Medicare Australia.

Methadone

Methadone is a synthetic opioid used medically for the treatment of people 

dependent on heroin and other opioids.

Methadone maintenance

Methadone maintenance is a program for stabilising someone who is addicted 

to heroin or other opioids. Therapeutically prescribed doses of methadone 

relieve withdrawal symptoms, eliminate opiate craving and allow normal 

functioning. The efficacy of these medications increases significantly with 

counselling and on-site medical and other supportive treatment services. 

Generally, there are two types of methadone programs: a maintenance or long-

term program which may last for months or years, and aims to reduce the harms 

associated with drug use and improve quality of life; and a withdrawal or 

detoxification program, which lasts approximately 5–14 days and aims to ease 

the discomfort of withdrawing from heroin.

Mutation

A change in the base pair sequence of genetic material (either DNA or RNA) of a 

cell or organism such as a virus.

Naltrexone

Naltrexone is an opioid receptor antagonist used primarily in the management 

of opioid dependence. The user must first go through detoxification. Naltrexone 

is designed to take away the desire to use opiates and stops them working if 

they are used. There are overdose risks involved in taking this drug.
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Natural History

The natural history of a disease is defined as its progression in the absence of 

any medical treatment or other intervention over a designated period of time.

Needlestick injury

Refers to an injury with a needle or other sharp implement that accidentally 

punctures the skin.

Non-A, non-B hepatitis

Before hepatitis C was identified in 1989, this term was used to describe any 

hepatitis virus that was not caused by either hepatitis A or hepatitis B. It is now 

thought that the majority of cases of non-A, non-B hepatitis were hepatitis C.

Opiate

A narcotic drug containing opium or one or more of its natural or synthetic 

derivatives.

Opportunistic infection

Opportunistic infections are infections caused by organisms that usually do not 

cause disease in a person with a healthy immune system, but can affect people 

with a poorly functioning or suppressed immune system

Peer education

An education process that is self-directed, devised, implemented and owned by 

members of a group or sub-culture. The desired outcome is that peer support 

and the culture of the target group are used to effect and sustain changes in 

attitude and behaviour.

Pegylated interferon

Pegylated interferon is a form of interferon with the addition of a polyethylene 

glycol molecule. This has the effect of the drug staying in the body for a longer 

period. It is injected once a week, while interferon that is not pegylated needs to 

be injected three times a week.
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People affected by hepatitis C

People at risk of acquiring hepatitis C, people who already have hepatitis C, and 

other people such as family members, friends and partners who are not directly 

infected with the virus, but who are affected by the experiences of those who 

have the virus.

Percutaneous

A procedure performed through the skin.

Person years

Describes the total amount of time that a group of people participating in a 

study has been exposed to or experienced a particular health issue.

Pharmaceutical Benefits Scheme 

The Australian Government’s Pharmaceutical Benefits Scheme (PBS) provides 

reliable, timely and affordable access to a wide range of medicines for all 

Australians.

Polymerase chain reaction (PCR)

A laboratory technique that amplifies the genetic material of a virus to a level 

where it can be detected. PCR detects the genetic material of the virus, hepatitis 

C virus RNA. In the case of hepatitis C, PCR can be used to determine the 

following: the presence or absence of virus in the blood (hepatitis C virus RNA); 

the level of virus present in the blood (viral load); and it is used as a preliminary 

step before genotyping of the virus.

Prevalence

The prevalence of a disease in a statistical population is defined as the total 

number of cases of the disease in the population at a designated point in time 

and is usually expressed as a percentage or a ratio (e.g. 1% or 1 in 100 people).

Prospective studies

An epidemiological study in which subsets of a defined population, enrolled in 

the study, are monitored over time.
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Prognosis

A prediction of the probable progression of a disease, based on the condition  

of the person and the usual course of the disease as observed in similar 

situations.

Psoriasis

A disease which affects the skin and joints. It is hypothesised to be immune-

mediated. It commonly causes red scaly patches to appear on the skin.

Quality of life

The extent to which an individual perceives himself/herself to be able to 

function physically, psychologically and socially.

Reflective practice

The process of re-assessing activities for their underlying values and assumptions, 

and monitoring their effectiveness and appropriateness.

Ribavirin

An anti-viral drug which activates the body’s immune system against a number 

of DNA and RNA viruses.

Safer using

A series of precautions and practices aimed at preventing the incidence of 

related harm during the process of injecting drugs.

Schistosomiasis

Parasitic infection transmitted to humans through contact with fresh water 

contaminated by human faeces. The disease affects many people in developing 

countries. Schistosomiasis is also known as Bilharzia.

Sexually transmissible infection (STI)

An infection that can be transmitted between humans by means of sexual 

contact, including vaginal intercourse, oral sex, and anal sex.
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Shared Care

A partnership arrangement between health care professionals, designed to 

optimise the care of people with chronic disease. When caring for people with 

hepatitis C, the term is often used to describe an arrangement made between 

liver specialists in regional centres and GPs in rural areas.

Standard infection control precautions

Work practices required for the basic level of infection control. These include 

good hygiene practices, particularly washing and drying hands before and after 

patient contact; the use of protective barriers which may include gloves, gowns, 

plastic aprons, masks, eye shields or goggles; appropriate handling and disposal 

of sharps and other contaminated or infectious waste; and use of aseptic 

techniques. Standard precautions are recommended for the treatment and care 

of all patients, regardless of their perceived infectious status.

Subcutaneous injection

A subcutaneous injection is given in the fatty layer of tissue just under the skin 

using a hypodermic needle. Interferon is administered in this way into the fat of 

the abdomen or the outer thigh.

Suboxone

The brand name of a medication used in substitution treatment for opioid 

dependence. Suboxone is in a tablet form that dissolves under the tongue and 

contains a 4:1 ratio of Buprenorphine and Naloxone.

Supply reduction – see Harm minimisation.

Surveillance

The ongoing tracking of all aspects of a disease pertinent to effective disease 

monitoring and control.

Sustained viral response (SVR)

This refers to the elimination of the virus following treatment, which results in an 

improvement in symptoms, and the reduction of potential long-term 

complications such as cirrhosis. Current research suggests that if a person has a 

sustained response for 6 months after a course of treatment, there is a good 

chance that their response will last indefinitely.
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Vaccine

A substance that stimulates an immune response and renders a person immune 

to a particular infection. There is no vaccine for hepatitis C, but vaccines are 

available for both hepatitis A and hepatitis B.

Vertical transmission (hepatitis C-related)

This refers to the transmission of an infectious organism from mother to baby, 

during pregnancy, delivery or breastfeeding. It is very rare for hepatitis C to be 

transmitted in this way. The risk of mother-to-child transmission of hepatitis C is 

approximately 5%.

Viraemia

The rapid multiplication of viruses in the blood sometimes associated with 

symptoms.

Viral load

The amount of virus circulating in the blood, usually measured by a PCR 

quantitative test. The result is given in number of viral particles per ml of blood.

Von Willebrand disorder (vWD)

A bleeding disorder in which people do not have enough of a protein called Von 

Willebrand factor in their blood or the Von Willebrand factor does not work 

properly with the result that it takes longer for bleeding episodes to stop. VWD 

is more common than haemophilia, affecting approximately 1% of the population, 

however many people will experience few symptoms. VWD can affect people of 

any ethnic background and is mostly a genetic disorder, passed from parent to 

child but not on the X chromosome, so it affects women as often as men.

Window period (or sero-conversion)

Describes the period of time between initial infection and when antibodies are 

measurable on testing. It usually takes at least 3 or 4 weeks before there is 

enough virus circulating in the blood to identify hepatitis C through a PCR test, 

but it can take up to 6 months for antibodies to appear in significant enough 

numbers to be detectable. A person may be able to transmit the virus to others 

via risk behaviours during this period.
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Abbreviations
AHMAC	 Australian Health Ministers Advisory Council

AIDS	 Acquired immune deficiency syndrome

AIVL	 Australian Injecting & Illicit Drug Users League

ALA	 Australian Liver Association

ALT	 Alanine transaminase

ANCARD	 Australian National Council on AIDS and Related Diseases

ANCAHRD	 Australian National Council on AIDS, Hepatitis C and Related 

Diseases

ANCD	 Australian National Council on Drugs

ASHM	 The Australasian Society for HIV Medicine Inc

BBV	 Blood-borne virus

bDNA	 Branched chain DNA

CALD	 Culturally and linguistically diverse backgrounds

COAG	 Council of Australian Governments

DNA	 Deoxyribonucleic acid

EPC	 Enhanced Primary Care

EPP	 Exposure-prone procedure

GESA	 Gastroenterology Society of Australia

HAART	 Highly active anti-retroviral therapy

HCV	 Hepatitis C virus

HIV	 Human immunodeficiency virus
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IGCAHRD	 Inter-Governmental Committee on AIDS, Hepatitis C and Related 

Diseases

LFT	 Liver function test

MHAHS	 Multicultural HIV/AIDS and Hepatitis C Service

NAT	 Nucleic Acid testing

NCHECR	 National Centre in HIV Epidemiology and Clinical Research

NCHSR	 National Centre in HIV Social Research

NHMRC	 National Health and Medical Research Council

NSP	 Needle and Syringe Program

NUAA	 NSW Users and AIDS Association

PCR	 Polymerase chain reaction

PGA	 Pharmacy Guild of Australia

PLWHA	 People living with HIV/AIDS

PBS	 Pharmaceutical Benefits Scheme

PSA	 Pharmaceutical Society of Australia

QoL	 Quality of life

RNA	 Ribonucleic acid

STI	 Sexually transmissible infection

TGA	 Therapeutic Goods Administration

WHO	 World Health Organization
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contacts
HEPATITIS AUSTRALIA
Ph:	 02 6232 4257

Email:	 ahcinfo@hepatitisaustralia.com

Web:	 www.hepatitisaustralia.com

The Australian Injecting & 

Illicit Drug Users league
Ph:	 02 6279 1600

Email:	 info@aivl.org.au

Web:	 www.aivl.org.au

Multicultural HIV/AIDS and 

Hepatitis C Service (MHAHS)
Ph:	 02 9515 5030

	 1800 108 098 (freecall)

Email:	 info@multiculturalhivhepc.net.au

Web:	 http://www.multiculturalhivhepc.

net.au/

AustralaSIAN Society for HIV 

Medicine
Ph:	 02 8204 0700

Email:	 ashm@ashm.org.au

Web:	 www.ashm.org.au

Australian National Council 

on Drugs (ancd)
Ph:	 02 6166 9600

Email:	 ancd@ancd.org.au

Web:	 http://www.ancd.org.au

HAEMOPHILIA FOUNDATION 

AUSTRALIA
Ph:	 03 9885 7800

Email:	 hfaust@haemophilia.org.au

Web:	 www.haemophilia.org.au

Translating and Interpreting 

Service (TIS)
Ph:	 131 450

	 1300 131 450 – Doctors Priority 

Line

Australian Capital Territory

ACT Hepatitis C Council
Ph:	 02 6257 2911 (office)

	 1300 301 383 HepLine

Email:	 info@acthepc.org

Web:	 www.acthepc.org

Haemophilia Foundation ACT
Ph:	 03 9885 7800

Email:	 hfaust@haemophilia.org.au

Web:	 www.hfact.org.au

ACT Health
Ph:	 13 22 81

Web:	 www.halth.act.gov.au

Winnunga Nimmityjah 

Aboriginal Health Services
Ph:	 02 6284 6222

Web:	 http://www.winnunga.org.au

CANBERRA ALLIANCE FOR HARM 

MINIMISATION ADVOCACY 

(CAHMA)
Ph:	 02 62791600

Email:	 cahma@aivl.org.au

Web:	 www.aivl.org.au (under member 

organisations)

ACT Community Care Alcohol 

and Drug Program (ACTCCADP)
Ph:	 6205 4545 (24 hour intake & 

assessment line)
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Alcohol and Drug Service  

(24 hr helpline)
Ph:	 02 6207 9977

Directions ACT
Ph:	 02 6122 8000

Email:	 reception@directionsact.com

Web:	 http://www.directionsact.com

Alcohol and Drug 

Foundation Australian 

Capital Territory Inc. 
Ph:	 02 6292 2733

Email:	 adfact@adfact.org

Web:	 http://www.adfact.org

Sexual Health and Family 

Planning
Ph:	 02 6247 3077

Web:	 http://www.shfpact.org.au/

HUMAN RIGHTS COMMISSION ACT 

(Health Complaints)
Ph:	 02 6205 2222

Email:	 human.rights@act.gov.au

Web:	 http://www.hrc.act.gov.au/

Medical Board of the ACT
Ph:	 02 6205 1600

Email:	 medicalboard@medicalboard.act.

gov.au

Web:	 http://www.medicalboard.act. 

gov.au

Australian Capital Territory 

Nursing and Midwifery Board
Ph:	 02 6205 1599

Web:	 www.actnmb.act.gov.au

New South Wales

Hepatitis C Council of New 

South Wales
Ph:	 02 9332 1853 (office)

	 9332 1599 (Sydney)

	 1800 803 990 (Country)

Email:	 hccnsw@hepatitisc.org.au

Web:	 www.hepatitisc.org.au

Haemophilia Foundation New 

South Wales
Ph:	 02 9476 2557

Email:	 hf.nsw@bigpond.com

NSW Health Department
Ph:	 02 9391 9000

Email:	 nswhealth@doh.health.nsw.gov.au

Web:	 http://www.health.nsw.gov.au/

NSW Aboriginal Health & 

Medical Research 

Council (AH&MRC)
Ph:	 02 9212 4777

Email:	 ahmrc@ahmrc.org.au

Web:	 www.ahmrc.org.au

Alcohol and Drug 

Information Service (ADIS) 

NSW
Ph:	 02 9361 8000 – Sydney

	 1 800 422 599 (freecall)

New South Wales Users and 

AIDS Association (NUAA)
Ph:	 1800 644 413 (freecall)

	 02 8354 7300

Email:	 nuaa@nuaa.org.au

Web:	 http://www.nuaa.org.au/

238	resources



TRAIDS
Ph:	 02 9843 3143

Family Planning 
Ph:	 02 8752 4300

Web:	 www.fpahealth.org.au

Anti-Discrimination Board
Ph:	 02 9268 5544

	 1800 670 812 Rural and regional 

NSW

Web:	 http://www.lawlink.nsw.gov.au/

adb

Health care Complaints 

Commission NSW
Ph:	 1800 043 159

	 02 9219 7444

Email:	 hccc@hccc.nsw.gov.au

Web:	 www.hccc.nsw.gov.au

NSW Medical Board
Ph:	 02 9879 2200

Web:	 http://www.nswmb.org.au/

Nurses and Midwives Board 

of New South Wales
Ph:	 02 9219 0222

	 1800 241 220 (country)

Email:	 mail@nmb.nsw.gov.au

Web:	 www.nmb.nsw.gov.au

AUSTRALIAN DENTAL 

ASSOCIATION INC NSW
Ph:	 02 8436 9900

Email:	 adansw@adansw.com.au

Web:	 www.adansw.com.au

Justice Health NSW
Ph:	 02 9289 2977

Email:	 jhadmin@justicehealth.nsw.gov.au

Web:	 www.justicehealth.nsw.gov.au/

Northern Territory

Northern Territory AIDS and 

Hepatitis Council
Ph:	 08 8941 1711 (office)

Email:	 info@ntahc.org.au

Web:	 www.ntahc.org.au

Haemophilia Foundation NT
Ph:	 03 9885 7800

Email:	 hfaust@haemophilia.org.au

Web:	 www.haemophilia.org.au

DEPARTMENT OF HEALTH AND 

COMMUNITY SERVICES
Ph:	 08 8999 2400

Web:	 http://www.nt.gov.au/health/

index.shtml

Aboriginal Medical Services 

Alliance Northern Territory 

(AMSANT)
Ph:	 08 8944 6666

Email:	 reception@amsant.com.au

Web:	 www.amsant.com.au/

Alcohol and Drug 

Information Services (ADIS) – 

24 hours
Ph:	 1800 131 350 (freecall)

NETWORK AGAINST PROHIBITION 

(NAP)
Ph:	 08 8941 9921

Web:	 www.napnt.org

Family Planning Welfare NT
Ph:	 08 8948 0144

Email:	 fpnt@ozemail.com.au
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NT Anti-Discrimination 

Commission
Ph:	 08 8999 1444

	 1800 813 846 (freecall)

Email:	 administrationadc@nt.gov.au

Web:	 www.nt.gov.au/justice/adc/

index800.html

The Health and Community 

Services Complaints 

Commission
Ph:	 08 8999 1969

	 1800 806 380 (freecall)

Web:	 www.nt.gov.au/omb_hcscc/hcscc/

Medical Board of the 

Northern Territory
Ph:	 08 89994157

Nursing & Midwifery Board of 

the Northern Territory
Ph:	 08 8999 4157

AUSTRALIAN DENTAL 

ASSOCIATION INC NT
Ph:	 08 8981 3457

Queensland

HEPATITIS COUNCIL OF 

QUEENSLAND
Ph:	 07 3236 0610 (office)

	 1300 437 222 Info line

Email:	 reception@hepqld.asn.au

Web:	 www.hepqld.asn.au

Haemophilia Foundation 

Queensland
Ph:	 07 3510 5471

Email:	 info@hfq.org.au

Web:	 www.hfq.org.au

Department of Health 

Queensland
Ph:	 13 43 25 84

	 07 3234 0111

Web:	 http://www.health.qld.gov.au/

Queensland Aboriginal and 

Islander Health Federation 

(QAIHF)
Ph:	 07 3360 8444

Email:	 reception@QAIHC.com.au

Web:	 http://www.qaihf.com.au/

QUEENSLAND INJECTORS HEALTH 

NETWORK (QUiHN)
Ph:	 07 3620 8111

	 1800 172 076 (country)

Email:	 quihn@quihn.org.au

Web:	 www.quihn.org.au

Alcohol and Drug 

Information Service (ADIS) QLD
Ph:	 07 3236 2414

	 1 800 177 833 (freecall)

Queensland Intravenous AIDS 

Association (QuIVAA)
Ph:	 07 3252 5390

GAIN (Gold Coast drug user 

group)
Ph:	 075 3575 5144

240	resources



SCIVAA (Sunshine coast, drug 

user group)
Ph:	 074 439 576

Family Planning Queensland
Ph:	 07 3250 0240

Web:	 www.fpq.com.au/

Health Quality and 

Complaints Commission QLD
Ph:	 07 3120 5999

	 1800 077 308 (country)

Email:	 info@hqcc.qld.gov.au

Web:	 www.hrc.qld.gov.au

Anti-discrimination 

Commission Queensland
Ph:	 1300 130 670

Email:	 info@adcq.qld.gov.au

Web:	 http://www.adcq.qld.gov.au/

Qld Medical Board
Ph:	 (07) 3234 0176

Email:	 medical@healthregboards.qld. 

gov.au

Web:	 http://www.medicalboard.qld. 

gov.au/

Queensland Nursing Council
Ph:	 07 3223 5111

	 1300 139993 (country)

Email:	 general@qnc.qld.gov.au

Web:	 www.qnc.qld.gov.au

AUSTRALIAN DENTAL 

ASSOCIATION INC QLD
Ph:	 07 3252 9866

Email	 mail@adaq.com.au

South Australia

Hepatitis C Council of South 

Australia
Ph:	 08 8362 8443 (office)

	 1800 021 133 (country))

Email:	 admin@hepccouncilsa.asn.au

Web:	 www.hepccouncilsa.asn.au

Haemophilia Foundation 

South Australia
Ph:	 03 9885 7800

Email:	 hfaust@haemophilia.org.au

South Australian Health 

Commission
Ph:	 08 8226 6000

Web:	 http://www.health.sa.gov.au

Aboriginal Health Council 

of SA
Ph:	 08 8132 6700

Email:	 ahcsa@ahcsa.org.au

Web:	 http://www.ahcsa.org.au/

The Aboriginal Drug and 

Alcohol Council
Ph:	 08 8362 0395

Web:	 http://www.adac.org.au/

Drug & Alcohol Services 

South Australia 
Ph:	 0 8 8274 3333

	 1300 13 1340 (24 hour)

Web:	 http://www.dassa.sa.gov.au/site/

page.cfm
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SA Voice of IV Education 

(SAVIVE)
Ph:	 08 8334 1699

Email:	 savive@savive.org.au

Web:	 www.acsa.org.au/SAVIVEmain.html

SHINE (Sexual Health 

Information, Networking and 

Education)
Email:	 info@shinesa.org.au

Web:	 www.shinesa.org.au/

health & community services 

complaints commissioner SA
Ph:	 1800 232 007

Web:	 www.hcscc.sa.gov.au

Commissioner for Equal 

Opportunity
Ph:	 08 8207 1977

	 1800 188 163

Web:	 http://www.eoc.sa.gov.au

Medical Board of South 

Australia
Ph:	 08 8219 9800

Email:	 admin@medicalboardsa.asn.au

Web:	 www.medicalboardsa.asn.au/

Nurses Board of South 

Australia
Ph:	 08 8223 9700

Email:	 ceo-registrar@nursesboard.sa. 

gov.au

Web:	 www.nursesboard.sa.gov.au

AUSTRALIAN DENTAL 

ASSOCIATION INC SA
Ph:	 08 8272 8111

Email:	 adasa@adasa.asn.au

Tasmania

Tasmanian Council on AIDS, 

Hepatitis and Related Diseases
Ph:	 03 6234 1242 (office)

1800 005 900 (country)

Email:	 mail@tascahrd.org.au

Web:	 www.tascahrd.org.au

Haemophilia Foundation 

Tasmania
Ph:	 03 9885 7800

Email:	 hfaust@haemophilia.org.au

Department of Health and 

Human Services Tasmania 
Ph:	 1300 135 513

	 03 6233 3185

Web:	 http://www.dhhs.tas.gov.au/

Tasmanian Aboriginal Health 

Service (TAHS)
Ph:	 03 6231 3527.

Alcohol and Drug 

Information Service (ADIS) 

Tasmania
Ph:	 03 6222 7511

	 1800 811 994 (freecall)

Tasmania Users Health & 

Support League (TUSSEL)
Ph:	 03 6234 1242
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Anti-Discrimination 

Commissioner TAsmania
Ph:	 03 6233 4841

	 1300 305 062

Email:	 AntiDiscrimination@justice.tas. 

gov.au

Web:	 http://www.antidiscrimination.tas.

gov.au/

Family Planning Tasmania
Ph:	 03 6228 5244

Email:	 edinfo@fpt.asn.au

Web:	 http://www.fpt.asn.au/

Medical Council of Tasmania
Ph:	 03 6233 5499

Email:	 mct@medicalcounciltas.com.au

Web:	 http://www.medicalcounciltas.

com.au/

Nursing Board of Tasmania
Ph:	 03 6224 3991

Email:	 NBT@nursingboardtas.org.au

Web:	 www.nursingboardtas.org.au

AUSTRALIAN DENTAL 

ASSOCIATION INC TAS
Ph:	 03 6248 7788

Victoria

Hepatitis C Council of Victoria
Ph:	 03 9380 4644 (office)

1800 703 003 (country)

Email:	 info@hepcvic.org.au

Web:	 www.hepcvic.org.au

Haemophilia Foundation 

victoria
Ph:	 03 9555 7595

Email:	 info@hfv.org.au

Web:	 www.hfv.org.au

HIV·Hepatitis·STI Education + 

Resource Centre 
Ph:	 03 9276 6993

Email:	 access@alfred.org.au

Web:	 http://www.hivhepsti.info/

Department of Human 

Services
Ph:	 1300 650 172

Web:	 http://www.dhs.vic.gov.au

Victorian Aboriginal 

Community Controlled 

Health Organisation
Ph:	 03 94193350

Web:	 http://www.vaccho.org.au/index.

html

Victorian Drug User Group 

(VIVAIDS) 
Ph:	 03 9419 3633 

Email:	 vivaids@vivaids.org.au

Web:	 http://home.vicnet.net.

au/~vivaids/vivaids.htm

Turning Point Drug & Alcohol 

centre
Ph:	 03 8413 8413

	 1800 888 236 (Counselling & 

Information)

Email:	 info@turningpoint.org.au

Web:	 http://www.turningpoint.org.au/

Drugs & Alcohol in Victoria 

Directline 
Ph:	 1800 888 236

Web:	 www.health.vic.gov.au/drugs/

index.htm
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Association of Needle 

Exchanges (ANEX)
Ph:	 03 9486 6399

Email:	 info@anex.org.au

Web:	 http://www.anex.org.au/

Youth Substance Abuse 

Service (YSAS)
Ph:	 03 9415 8881

Email:	 admin@ysas.org.au

Web:	 http://www.ysas.org.au/

FAmily Planning Victoria
Ph:	 03 9257 0100

Email:	 fpv@fpv.org.au

Web:	 http://www.fpv.org.au/

Office of the Health Services 

Commissioner Vic
Ph:	 1800 136 066

Email:	 hsc@dhs.vic.gov.au

Web:	 www.health.vic.gov.au/hsc

Victorian Equal Opportunity 

& Human Rights Commission 
Ph:	 03 9281 7111

	 1800 134 142 (call free)

Email:	 mailto:veohrc@vicnet.net.au

Web:	 http://www.

humanrightscommission.vic. 

gov.au

Medical Practitioners Board 

of Victoria
Ph:	 03 9655 0500

Email:	 info@medicalboardvic.org.au

Web:	 http://medicalboardvic.org.au/

Nurses Board of Victoria
Ph:	 03 8635 1200

Web:	 www.nbv.org.au

AUSTRALIAN DENTAL 

ASSOCIATION INC VIC
Ph:	 03 9826 8318

Web:	 www.adavb.com.au

Department of Justice – 

Health Services Victoria
Tel:	 03 8684 6600

	 1800 134 142 (freecall)

Email:	 corrections@justice.vic.gov.au

Western Australia

HEPATITIS COUNCIL OF  

WESTERN AUSTRALIA
Ph:	 08 9227 9800 (office)

	 1800 800 070 (country)

Email:	 info@hepatitiswa.com.au

Web:	 www.hepatitiswa.com.au

Haemophilia Foundation 

Western Australia
Ph:	 08 9420 7294 

Email:	 office@hfwa.org

Web:	 www.hfwa.org

Department of Health
Ph:	 08 9222 4222

	 1800 022 222 (HealthDirect)

Web:	 http://www.health.wa.gov.au

Aboriginal Health Council of 

Western Australia (AHCWA)
Ph:	 08 9227 1631

Email:	 admin@ahcwa.org

Web:	 http://www.ahcwa.org
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Alcohol and Drug 

Information Service (ADIS) WA
Ph:	 08 9442 5000

	 1800 198 024 (freecall) 

Email:	 ADIS@health.wa.gov.au

Web:	 http://www.dao.health.wa.gov.au/

Parent Drug Information 

Service
Ph:	 08 9442 5050

	 1800 653 203 (freecall)

Web:	 http://www.dao.health.wa.gov.au/

WA Substance Users 

Association (WASUA)
Ph:	 08 9227 7866

Email:	 info@wasua.com.au

Web:	 http://www.wasua.com.au/

Family Planning Western 

Australia
Ph:	 08 9227 6177

Web:	 http://www.fpwa.org.au/

Office of Health Review 

Western Australia WA
Ph:	 08 9323 0600

Web:	 http://www.healthreview.wa.gov.

au/home/

Equal Opportunity 

Commission, WA
Ph:	 08 9216 3900

	 1800 198 149

Web:	 http://www.equalopportunity.

wa.gov.au/index.html

Medical Board of Western 

Australia
Ph:	 08 9481 1011

Email:	 info@wa.medicalboard.com.au

Web:	 http://www.wa.medicalboard. 

com.au/

Nurses Board of Western 

Australia
Ph:	 08 9421 1100

Email:	 info@nbwa.org.au

Web:	 www.nbwa.org.au

AUSTRALIAN DENTAL 

ASSOCIATION INC WA
Ph:	 08 9321 7880

Email:	 admin@adawa.com.au

Web:	 http://www.ada.org.au/

National

Drug Information and Services

Australian Drug Foundation
Ph:	 03 9278 8100 

Email:	 adf@adf.org.au

Web:	 http://www.adf.org.au/

Alcohol and Other Drugs 

Council of Australia (ADCA) 
Ph:	 02 6281 0686 

Email:	 adca@adca.org.au

Web:	 www.adca.org.au
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Health Care

Gastroenterological Society 

of Australia (GESA) 

The Australian Liver 

Association (ALA)
Ph:	 02 9256 5454

Email:	 gesa@gesa.org.au

Web:	 http://www.gesa.org.au/

Medicare Australia 
Ph:	 132 011 (local call rate)

Email:	 medicare@medicareaustralia. 

gov.au

Web:	 www.medicareaustralia.gov.au/

Pharmaceutical Society 

of Australia
Ph:	 02 6283 4777

Email:	 psa.nat@psa.org.au

Web:	 http://www.psa.org.au/

Royal College of Nursing
Ph:	 1800 061 660

	 02 6283 3400

Email:	 canberra@rcna.org.au

Web:	 http://www.rcna.org.au/

AUSTRALIAN DENTAL 

ASSOCIATION INC
Ph:	 02 9906 4412

Email:	 adainc@ada.org.au

Web:	 www.ada.org.au

National Needlestick and 

Other Exposures Hotline
Ph:	 1800 804 823 (Freecall)

Sexual Health

Family Planning Australia 

(Sexual health & Family 

Planning)
Ph:	 02 8752 4364 

Web:	 http://www.fpa.net.au/

Complementary Therapy

Australian Naturopathic 

Network
Email:	 enquiries@ann.com.au

Web:	 http://www.ann.com.au/

Australian Acupuncture and 

Chinese Medicine Association 

(AACMA)
Ph:	 07 3324 2599 

	 1300 725 334 (National 

Practitioner referral search – 

freecall)

Email:	 aacma@acupuncture.org.au

Web:	 http://www.acupuncture.org.au

Australian College of 

Natural Medicine – Mind/Body 

Medicine 
Ph:	 07 3257 1883

Email:	 info@acnm.edu.au

Web:	 http://www.acnm.edu.au/

Australasian College of 

Nutritional & Environmental 

Medicine Inc
Ph:	 03 9589 6088 

Email:	 mail@acnem.org

Web:	 http://www.acnem.org/
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Australian Traditional 

Medicine Society 
Ph:	 02 9809 6800 

Email:	 info@atms.com.au

Web:	 http://www.atms.com.au/

Complementary Medicine 

Association 
Ph:	 1800 11 77 66 (freecall)

	 07 5527 1951

Email:	 admin@cma.asn.au

Web:	 http://www.cma.asn.au

Australian Integrative 

Medicine Association 
Ph:	 03 8699 0582 

Email:	 admin@aima.net.au

Web:	 www.aima.net.au

Government

Human Rights and Equal 

Opportunity Commission
Ph:	 02 9284 9600

	 1300 656 419 Complaints Infoline

Email:	 paffairs@humanrights.gov.au

Web:	 http://www.humanrights.gov.au

Commonwealth Ombudsman
Ph:	 1300 362 072 (local call) 

Email:	 ombudsman@ombudsman.gov.au 

Web:	 www.comb.gov.au

AUSTRALIAN SAFETY AND 

COMPENSATION COUNCIL
Ph:	 02 6121 5317

Email:	 info@ascc.gov.au

Web:	 http://www.ascc.gov.au

Centrelink
Ph:	 Appointments:	 13 1021

	 Employment Services:	 13 2850

	 Disability, Sickness  

and Carers:	 13 2717

	 Retirement services:	 13 2300

	 Family Assistance Office:	 13 6150

	 Enquiries in languages  

other than English:	 13 1202

Web:	 www.centrelink.gov.au

Department of Health and 

Ageing 
Ph:	 02 6289 1555 ASK for the relevant 

area in the Department:

	 •	 Hepatitis C Section

	Office of Health Protection•	

	 •	 �Office for Aboriginal and Torres 

Strait Islander Health (OATSIH)

	 •	 HIV/AIDS & STIs Section

	 •	 Food and Healthy Living Branch

	 •	 Drug Strategy Branch

Email:	 enquiries@health.gov.au (for 

general enquiries)

Web:	 www.health.gov.au

Blood Service

Australian Red Cross Blood 

Service
Ph:	 13 14 95

Web:	 www.arcbs.redcross.org.au

Pregnancy/Childbirth/
Breastfeeding

Australian Breastfeeding 

Association
Ph:	 03 9885 0855 

Email:	 info@breastfeeding.asn.au

Web:	 www.breastfeeding.asn.au
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Australian College of 

Midwives Inc.
Ph:	 02 6230 7333 

	 1300 360 480

Email:	 office@midwives.org.au

Web:	 www.acmi.org.au

Body Art

Professional Tattooing 

Association of Australia
Ph:	 03 9749 8028

HIV/AIDS

Australian Federation of AIDS 

Organisations
Ph:	 02 9557 9399

Web:	 http://www.afao.org.au

Vaccination

Health care workers should refer to the 

current edition of the National Health and 

Medical Research Council Australian 

Australian Immunisation Handbook at 

www.immunise.health.gov.au

Australian Vaccination 

Network
Ph:	  02 6687 1699

Email:	 info@avn.org.au

Web:	 http://www.avn.org.au

Counselling

Australian Institute of 

Professional Counsellors
Ph:	 07 3112 2000 

	 1800 657 667 

Email:	 headoffice@aipc.net

Web:	 http://www.aipc.net.au

Australian Psychological 

Society Ltd
Ph:	 03 8662 3300

	 1800 333 497

Email:	 contactus@psychology.org.au

Web:	 http://www.psychology.org.au

Superannuation and Insurance

Australian Prudential 

Regulation Authority
Information Hotline: 1300 13 1060

Web:	 http://www.apra.gov.au/

superannuation

Steroid Users

For more information, please contact 

individual State and Territory peer-based 

drug user organisations or Hepatitis C 

Councils.

Nutrition

Nutrition Society of 

Australia 
Ph:	 08 8363 1307

Email:	 nsa@fcconventions.com.au

Web:	 http://www.nsa.asn.au
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Nutrition Australia
Email:	 eonational@nutritionaustralia.org

Web:	 http://www.nutritionaustralia.org

Dietitians Association of 

Australia
Ph:	 02 6282 9555

Email:	 nationaloffice@daa.asn.au

Web:	 http://www.daa.asn.au

Research Organisations

The Aboriginal Health and 

Medical Research Council of 

New South Wales (AH&MRC)
Ph:	 02 9212 4777

Email:	 ahmrc@ahmrc.org.au

Web:	 http://www.ahmrc.org.au

National Centre in HIV 

Epidemiology & Clinical 

Research (NCHECR)
Ph:	 02 9385 0900

Email:	 recept@nchecr.unsw.edu.au

Web:	 http://web.med.unsw.edu.au/

nchecr

National Centre in HIV Social 

Research, NCHSR
Ph:	 02 9385 6776

Email:	 nchsr@unsw.edu.au

Web:	 http://nchsr.arts.unsw.edu.au/

Australian Research Centre in 

Sex, Health and Society 

(ARCSHS)
Ph:	 03 9285 5382

Email:	 arcshs@latrobe.edu.au

Web:	 http://www.latrobe.edu.au/arcshs/

Australian Centre in Hepatitis 

and HIV Virology Research 

(ACH²)
Ph:	 02 9845 9015

Web:	 http://www.hiv.edu.au/

National Drug & Alcohol 

Research Centre (NDARC)
Ph:	 02 9385 0333

Web:	 http://ndarc.med.unsw.edu.au/
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Index
Acupuncture 16, 38, 112, 246

Acute 19–20, 35–38, 136, 213, 229

Alanine aminotransferase 100, 103, 213

Alcohol 3, 9, 27, 39, 59, 68, 83, 91, 111–112, 114–115, 118, 123, 139, 157, 161,  

167,  177, 196, 237–243, 245, 249

Antibodies 10, 15, 17, 20, 22–26, 28, 36, 64–65, 74, 76, 81, 94–96, 99, 103, 

213, 226

Antibody 1, 15, 17, 24, 44, 94–96, 99–100, 103, 190, 213, 220, 233

Anti-Discrimination 149, 151, 153, 163–164, 239, 240–241, 243

Antiviral 40, 102, 142

Appetite 37–38, 117, 120–121, 127

Blood awareness 50–52, 66, 181, 183, 213

Blood Bank 30, 64, 214

Blood-borne virus 7, 16, 56, 58, 64, 66, 160, 175–177, 181, 189–190, 192, 208, 

214–215, 227

Blood products 10, 13, 15, 22–23, 25, 43, 45, 64, 66, 86, 200, 214

Blood spills 16, 58, 69, 73, 78

Blood-to-blood contact 10, 13, 18, 19, 26, 27, 39, 43, 46, 49, 51, 72, 77, 184, 219

Blood transfusion 10, 15, 26, 64–65

Body piercing 10, 16, 18, 27, 49, 71–72, 191

Breastfeeding 18, 27, 74, 132, 155, 226, 247

CALD 43, 89–90, 160–161, 184–185, 189, 209, 227

Chronic 7, 10, 12, 19–22, 35–37, 39–43, 46, 75–76, 81, 94–96, 102, 109, 115, 125, 

133, 136, 141–142, 214, 216–217, 219–220, 225, 231

Cirrhosis 9, 10, 39–40, 44, 76, 100, 101, 124, 132, 141, 184, 214, 225

Co-infection 17, 26, 35–37, 41–46, 75, 137, 188, 215, 235
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Combination therapy 11, 31, 114, 120, 128, 133–136, 138, 143–144, 152, 215, 

231

Complementary therapies 46, 107, 109, 112–114, 128, 142, 215

Confidential 67, 82, 89, 96, 98, 126, 138, 158, 172

Confidentiality 66, 89, 150, 158, 160–161, 168, 175, 184, 189

Contraception 121, 132, 141, 143

Correctional 85, 174, 176, 186–187, 189–192, 195

Counselling 4, 17, 28–29, 55, 81, 87, 111, 119, 123, 139, 190, 193–194, 221, 243, 

248, 254

Custodial 2, 25, 31, 62, 85–86, 167, 173–176, 187–192, 202, 209, 215, 229, 233

Custody – see Custodial.

Demand reduction 52–53, 216, 218

Dental 66, 124–125, 153, 156, 164, 184, 216–217, 232, 239–246

Diagnosis 23, 43, 85, 87, 95, 108–110, 122, 136, 207

Diet 26, 40, 83, 112, 114–115, 117–118, 123, 127

Dietitian 116–118, 121–122

Discrimination 1, 30, 56, 62, 66, 97, 98, 108–109, 122, 139, 147–159, 162–164, 

176, 184, 194, 207, 216, 232, 239–242, 243

Enhanced primary care 122, 139, 216, 227

Environmental Protection Authority 70

Epidemic 1, 23, 26, 28, 30, 171, 200, 202–203, 229

Epidemiology 29, 55, 82, 85, 173, 188, 203–204, 216, 228–230, 233, 235, 249

Exposure 1, 23, 36–37, 39, 42, 57, 66, 69, 85, 94, 97, 119, 154, 156, 158, 189, 213, 

216–217, 227, 230

Fibrosis 9, 101, 115, 134, 141, 217

First Aid 38, 50, 67, 70, 73, 78

Gastroenterologist 39, 41

Genotype 11, 12, 20, 27, 49, 99, 102, 131, 134–136, 141, 143, 217
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Haemolytic anaemia 136, 217

Haemophilia 15, 26, 29, 43, 45, 97, 102,178, 207, 209, 214, 218, 226,  235,  

237–244 

Harm Minimisation 52, 82, 168, 171, 174, 177, 183, 216, 218, 225, 237

Harm Reduction 14, 25, 49–50, 52–57, 63, 89, 92–93, 168, 171–173, 176–177, 

181, 183, 187, 190, 205, 208, 218

Heroin 55–56, 59, 189, 221

HIV 2, 15–17, 19, 24–25, 28–29, 31, 43–46, 51–52, 55–57, 65, 68, 74–75, 77,  

84, 86, 95, 137, 144, 148, 151, 167, 171, 176–178, 182–183, 185, 187–188, 200, 

202–205, 209, 214–215, 227–237, 243, 247–249

Incidence 24–26, 75, 188, 191, 219–220, 229

Indeterminate 90, 95–96, 99, 220

Indigenous 2, 75, 159, 174, 235

Inflammation 9, 119, 219

Informed consent 66, 81–84, 87–88, 90–91, 94, 98, 100, 125–126, 128, 220

Injecting drug use 15, 19, 23–27, 39, 43, 54, 57, 61, 86, 148, 153, 159–161, 174, 

178, 181, 183, 190–191, 193–194, 196, 208

Interferon 11, 28–29, 40, 120, 123–124, 131, 133–137, 140–142, 215, 220, 222, 

225, 231, 254

Liver 7–10, 20–21, 31, 35–37, 39,–46, 59, 74–76, 81, 84, 100–104, 112–115,  

121–123, 127–128, 132, 134, 137, 141–144, 160, 178, 181, 184, 213–214, 217–220, 

224, 227–228, 230, 235, 246

Liver biopsy 31, 101–102, 142, 220

Medicare Benefits Schedule 99, 102, 122, 125, 221

Methadone 55–56, 124, 126, 143, 191, 194, 221, 230

Monotherapy 20, 29, 131, 134, 136–137, 142

Naltrexone 56, 221

National Hepatitis C Strategy 1–2, 30–31, 52, 54, 170, 199, 201–205, 207, 210, 

218, 230, 232–233
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Natural history 10, 20–22, 115, 132, 153, 188, 222, 235

Nausea 20, 35, 37–38, 116, 120–121, 127, 135, 142

Needle and Syringe Program 3, 28, 55, 171, 173, 228

Needlestick injury 16, 71, 77, 176, 222

Non-A, non-B hepatitis 10, 15, 22–23, 28, 222

NSP – see Needle and Syringe Program.

Nucleic Acid Testing 30, 64, 200

Nutrition 114–115, 124, 184, 248–249

Occupational Health and Safety 50, 71, 77, 174, 230, 247

Opiate 221–222

Overdose 14, 53, 56–57, 59–60, 191, 194, 221

Peer education 56, 161, 170, 175–176, 178–181, 222, 233

Pegylated interferon 11, 40, 120, 131, 133–134, 136, 137, 142, 222, 231

Pharmaceutical Benefits Scheme (PBS) 29, 101, 138–140, 223, 228

Pharmacies – see Pharmacy.

Pharmacy 61, 140, 167, 173, 186, 193–194, 206, 228, 236

Police 59, 62, 126, 167, 176–177, 196

Polymerase Chain Reaction (PCR) 10, 94, 98, 223, 228

Positive result 17, 87, 90–92, 96

Pre-and post-test counselling 17

Pre-employment medical 152

Pregnancy 17, 40, 74, 121, 132, 140, 155, 226, 247

Prevalence 23–26, 38–40, 55, 76, 85–86, 174, 181, 184, 188, 190–191, 204–205, 

223, 229, 232–233

Prevention 2, 4, 29–31, 49, 51, 54, 60, 65, 67–68, 85, 88, 93, 109, 167–168,  

171–173, 176–177, 181–184, 186–190, 192–193, 201–203, 205, 210, 229, 233

Prison 24–25, 186–188, 190–191
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Professional development 162, 173, 177, 204

Psychosocial 133

Quality of life 1, 56, 107–109, 111–112, 138, 142, 215, 221, 224, 228

Referral 92–93, 98, 119, 122, 139, 170, 172, 185, 194, 206–208, 246

Reflective practice 168–169, 224

Ribavirin 11, 121, 131, 133–137, 140, 142–143, 215, 217, 224, 231

Risk factor 49, 53, 85, 158, 186

S100 31, 140, 142–143, 219

Safer using 14, 56–60, 62–63, 172, 224

Schools 76, 167, 181–184

Seroconversion – see Window period.

Sexual contact 13, 18, 39, 224

Shared care 139, 144, 162, 224

Sharps 16, 70, 77, 225

Skin penetration 15–16, 86, 154, 160, 191

St. Mary’s Thistle 112

Standard infection control procedures 15–16, 49–51, 65–66, 68, 71, 77–78, 

154–155, 157, 159, 184

Sterile water 57–58, 61–62

Stigma 62, 66, 97–98, 109, 139, 149, 159–161, 176, 232

Superannuation 152, 248

Supply reduction 52–53, 218, 225

Support 1, 3–4, 28, 30, 53, 55, 57, 67, 82, 88, 90–93, 96–97, 107–111, 119, 122, 

128, 133, 138–139, 142, 149, 153, 159, 161–163, 170, 172–173, 175, 179, 183,  

185–186, 189, 194, 201, 203–205, 207–208, 218, 222, 242

Surveillance 23, 29,  53, 55,190–191, 225, 230

Sustained response (SR) 11, 134, 225
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Tattoo 15–16, 38, 49, 86, 248

Testing 2, 10, 12, 17, 20, 23, 27, 29–31, 44,  64, 66, 71, 74, 76, 81–88, 90–92, 94–99, 

103, 110, 139–140, 149, 156, 160, 181, 189–190, 192, 200, 202, 220, 226, 228, 229, 

231–232

Tourniquet 26, 57

Traditional Chinese medicine 112, 123

Transmission 1–2, 7, 10, 13–19, 23–28, 36–44, 46, 49–51, 53–58, 63–67, 72, 74, 

77–78, 82–83, 85–86, 88–90, 93–94, 109, 137, 147, 154–157, 168, 171–173, 176, 

178, 180, 182, 184–188, 190–194, 196, 200–201, 205, 208, 216–217, 226, 

230–231,233

Treatment 1–3, 7, 10–12, 15, 20, 22, 25, 31, 40–41, 43–45, 55–57, 60–61, 71,  

81–82, 85, 88, 92–93, 95–96, 99–102, 110–115, 119–122, 124–128, 131–144,  

149–150, 152, 156, 162–163, 187, 189–190, 193–194, 202–203, 205, 209–210, 

214–216, 219–222, 225, 229, 231–233, 235

Vaccination 39–42, 74–77, 137, 159, 184, 248

Vertical transmission 10, 17, 27, 44, 226

Viraemia 44, 226

Viral load 10, 12–14, 17, 43–44, 99, 134, 136, 141, 223, 226

Virological 114

Virus 1–2, 7, 10–20, 22–26, 28, 31, 35–37, 39–40, 42–44, 46, 49–50, 52, 55–56, 58, 

64–67, 72, 74, 77–78, 81–83, 86, 88–89, 94–95, 98–99, 102–103, 109, 114, 128, 

131–132, 134, 136, 144, 148, 156, 160, 162, 171–173, 175–177, 181, 187, 189–190, 

192, 195, 200, 202, 204, 208, 213–215, 217, 219, 221–223, 225–227, 229–234

Viruses – see Virus.

Vitamin 113, 115

Wellbeing 1, 107–109, 114, 142, 159, 169, 184, 206, 215

Window period 65, 90, 94–95, 226
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